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Strategic report

The Directors submit their strategic report and the audited financial statements of Red Bee Media Limited (the "Company”) for the full year ended 31 December
2020. The previous strategic report and audited financial statements were for the year ended 31 December 2019,

Review of the business

The Company iafises in television br postproduction, studio facilities and creating, managing. enhancing, delivering, promoting and navigating video
content, warking across all media distribution platforms, from TV to the web, to mobile phones, using the unique combination of its media distribution, Access,
technical and creative services.

Playout and Media A ("P&MM") speciali in media prep ion, gt and delivery solutions including broadcast playout outsourcing,
streaming [P content to online devices and interactive digital services.

Access provides subtitling, signing and audio description as well as language localisation of content. Access operates in the UK providing services to customers
throughout Europe and Australia.
Creative comprises multi-platform identity, promotions, on-brand TV, TV production, user interface design and brand strategy services to customers worldwide.

The Company’s expertise comes from the long standing provision of these services to major broadcast and media clients including the BBC, Channel 4, UKTV,
8T, ITV and Channet 5.

When Red Bee Media manages broadcast services, the Company handles the technical platforms and operational services including content logistics, library
management, quality control, playout services, WebTV and mobile services. The Media service offering enables broadcasters to reduce time to market, minimize
business continuity risk and achieve significant OPEX and CAPEX savings.

The Company performance continued to be challenged in 2020 and impacted by restructuring, Overali the gross margin remained broadly similar at 6%. While
continuing to develop our capabilities, we are exploring opportunities to drive scale and succeed in the evolving media landscape. The Company is transferring
investments from legacy hardware based products to nexl-generation software and cloud based solutions, while focusing on a go-to-market mode! that drives
prafitable growth. Our priority is to improve profitability while also taking action to revitalize technology and market leadership.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Company's operations expose it to a variety of risks that include;

We may not be able to properly respond to market trends In the industries in which we operate, including the ongoing converg of the tel

data and media industries, which may harm our market position relative to our competitors.

We are affected by market conditions and trends within the industries in which we operate, including the convergence of the telecom, data and media industries.
Convergence is largely driven by technological developments for example in software and cloud. This is changing the competitive landscape as well as business
models and affects our objecti tting, risk and gies. Competi new to our business have entered and may continue to enter this new
business context and negatively impact our market share in selected areas. If we fail to i the market devel or fail to acquire the necessary
competencies to develop and sell products, services and solutions that are competitive in this changing business environment, our business, operating results

and financial condition will suffer.

We depend upon the devel of new prod and enh its to our prod and the of our sub research and
development investments is uncertain,

Rapid technological and market changes in our industry require us to make signi Wil s in logical i ion. We invest significantly i in new
technology, products and solutions. In order for us to be successful, those technologies, products and soluti must be d by relevant

bodies and by the industry as a whole. The failure of our research and development efforts to be technically or commercially successful could have adverse
effects on our business, operating results and financial condition. If we invest in the development of technologies, products and solutions that do not function as
expected, are not adopted by the industry, are not ready in time, or are not ful in the marketpl. our sales may materially suffer. Additionally, it is
common for research and develop: j to delays due to unforeseen problems. Delays in production and h and develop may
increase the cost of research and development efforts and put us at a disadvantage against our competition. This could have a material adverse effect upon our
business, operating results and financial condition,

¢ i ol di

Cyber security incidents may have a material adverse effect on our b i p lon and brand.

Ericsson's business operatians involve areas that are particularly vul ble to cyber ity incid that may impact confidentiality, availability or integrity of
products, services or solutions. These incidents may include data breaches, intrusions, espionage, know-how and data privacy infringements, leakage,
unauthorized or accidental modification of data and general malfeasance. Examples of these areas include, among others, research and development, managed
services, usage of cloud solutions, software development, lawful interception, product engineering, IT, finance and HR operations. Any cyber security incident
including unintended use, involving our operations, product development, services, our third-party providers or installed product base, could cause severe harm
to Ericsson and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, reputation and brand. Ericsson refies heavily on third-parties to whom
we have d ts of our IT infrastructure, product development, engineering services, finance and HR operations. While we have taken
precautions relating to the selection, integration and ongoing management of these third-parties, any event or incident that is caused as a result of vulnerabilities
in their operations or products supplied to us could have a material adverse effect upon Ericsson, our business, financial condition, reputation and brand,
potentially slowing operations, leaking vatuable intellectuat property or sensitive information or damaging our products which have been installed in our customers’
netwaorks.

We must continue to attract and retain highly qualified employees to remain competitive.

We believe that our future success largely depends on our continued ability to hire, develop, motivate and retain engineers and other qualified personne! needed
to ! ful new prodi , support our existing product range and provide services to our customers. Competition for skilled personnel and highly
qualified managers in the industries in which we operate remains intense. We are continuously developing our carporate culture, remuneration, promotion ang
benefits policies as well as other measures aimed at empowering our employees and reducing employee tumover. However, there are nc guarantees that we will
be successful in attracting and retaining employees with appropriate skills in the future, and failure in retention and recruiting could have a material adverse effect
on our business and brand.
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If our customers’ financial conditions decline, we will be exp. dtoi d credit and cial risks.

After P g sales to S, we may er difficulty collecting accounts receivables and could be d to risks iated with

accounts receivable. We regularly assess the credit worthiness of our customers and based on that we determine a credit limit for each one of them. Challenging
economic conditions have impacted some of our customers’ ability to pay their invoices. Although our credit losses have historically been low and we have
policies and procedures for managing customer finance credit risk, we may be unable to avold future losses on our trade receivables. We have also experienced
demands for ing, and in ad financial markets or more competitive environments, those demands may increase. Upon the financial failure of
a customer, we may experience losses on credil extended and loans made to such customer, losses relating to our commercial risk exposure, and the loss of the
customer’s ongoing business. If customers fail to meet their obligations to us, we may experience reduced cash flows and losses in excess of reserves, which
could materially adversely impact our operating results and financial condition.

Financlal key perf indi (KPIs)

The Company's key financial performance indicators during the year were as follows:

2020 2019

£000 £000 % Change
Revenue 88,742 97,661 (9%)
Gross profit 5,010 6,111 (18%)
Gross Margin** 6% 6% (0%)
Operating loss (5,567) (2,054) 171%
Operating loss percentage ** {6%) (2%) (4%}
*! rounded to zero decimal places
Revenue for the busi d d by 9% pared ta prior year. The core business broadly remained unchanged, however the variable business was

impacted by COVID 19 and the cancellation of the majority of sporting/entertainment events reducing variable project revenues and producing tougher market
conditions as Broadcasting Operators lost advertising revenues.

Gross profit margin percentage remained in line with prior year at 6%, Although there was a reduction in variable revenues, variable costs were also reduced and
cost out programmes initiated to right size the business to the new revenue level,

The operating loss percentage increased by 4%, with the operating loss increasing by 171%. The underlying core business has remained broadly the same
b years, 2019 was i by two non-operational items. The first was the divestment of the Piero Sports graphics business unit and the second
the write down of investment in subsidiary relating to the dissolving of Broadcasting Data Services Ltd.

Financial position

The financial pasition of the Company is presented in the balance sheet, on page 13, and is summarised as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Total equity:
Total assets 156,149 155,358
Total liabilities (148,335) (140,289)
Total equity: 7,814 15,069
Brexit

Brexit has changed the UK's relationship with the EU, the EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement, which came into effect on 1 January 2021, provides greater
clarity on the trading relationship between the UK and the EU. Red Bee Media Limited has been planning for Brexit for a number of years through a cross-
functional steering committee established early in the Brexit process to identify risks and produce a comprehensive mitigation plan. To date there has been no
material impact from the EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement on our operations and service offerings to our customers. We continue to monitor the impact

of the agreement, and any legal challenges to el of the ag W, with further mitigations put in place where necessary to ensure our services operate as
normat.

Covid-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the vital role tel ications panies play in society enabling people to work remotely, allowing businesses to
remain operational, supparting emergency services and government responses, and providing access lo online education. It has accelerated the pace of digital
transformation and confirmed that wireless ivity is critical infr that underpins society, a reversion back to the status quo that existed before the

pandemic is less likely, as for example, we will most likely see remote working as part of the new normal.

During the Financial year end 31 December 2020, Red Bee Media Ltd (and the Encsson Group as a whole) focus throughout has been on the health and safety
of our employees, customers and other stakeholders. At the start of the p , we the majority of our staff to working from home, with minimal
disruption to our customers, we have closely monitored the evolution of COVID-19 as it has continued to affect dnﬂerent countries and adapted our risk profile as
required. The UK Government continues ta ease restrictions of lockdown during Q2 of 2021 (at the time of signing these financial statements), and are monitering
the reproductive rate ctosely. While the future effects on the economy and the business cannot be accurately predicted, to date there has been no discemible
impact on the Company's financial or operational performance. The UK management has in place a regular meeting of the "Crisis Management Task Force”
(CMTF) which continues to monitor the potential impact and take the necessary steps it believes is required in arder to minimise the risk to the company's
operations, employees and stakeholders alike,

After ensuring that financial, operatianal and liquidity forecasting updates are maintained and reviewed on an ongoing basis, the paositive results for the half year
2021 of both the company and the group with little financial impact being felt from the pandemic and receiving an undertaking from the ultimate parent company,
Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson, that it will provide all necessary financial suppart to the Company for at least 12 months fram the date of approval of these
financial statements, the directors have formed a judgement at the time of approving the financial statements that there is a reasonable expectation that the
Company has adequate resources to coniinue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they have adopted the going concern basis in
preparing financial statements.
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SECR Report Summary
Company Information
Red Bee Media Limited, incorporated in the UK Reg number 04257461. Registered address is Building 1, 566 Chiswick High Road, London, W4 5BE

Reporting Period
1st January 2020 - 31st December 2020
UK Energy & Carbon

Total Emission Scope Summary

Emission Type Total Volume (kWh) Calculated Emissions
{Tonnes of COze)

Scope 1 (direct) -

Scope 2 (indirect) 6,339,506 1,478
Scope 3 (indirect) 5,472 1
Total 6,344,978 1,479

Percentage Split of Emissions by Scope

Scope 2 (indirect)
100%

Scope 1 Emissions (Direct)
Emissions from activities owned or controlled by Red Bee Media Limited that release emissions into the atmosphere. Examples of Scope 1 emissions include

emissions from combustion in awned ar cantralled bailers, fumaces, vehi fram | production in owned or controlled pracess equipment.
Energy Type Definition Total Volume (kWh) Calculated Emissions
{Tonnes of COze)
- Gas Emissions from combustion of gas - -
Transport Emissions from combustion of fuet for transport purposes - -
Total - -

Scope 2 Emissions (Indirect)

Emissions released into the atmosphere associated with Red Bee Media Limited's consumption of purchased electricity, heat, steam and cooling. These are
indirect emissions that are a consequence of Red Bee Media Limited's activities, but which occur at sources that Red Bee Media Limited do not own or control.

Energy Type Definition Total Volume (kWh) Calculated Emissions
(Tonnes of CO5e)
Electricity Emisslons from purchased electricity 6,339,506 1,478

Total 6,339,506 1,478
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SECR Report Summary (continued)

Scope 3 Emissions (In-direct)

Emissions that are a cc ce of Red Bee Media Limited's actions, which occur at sources which Red Bee Media Limited do not own or control and which are

not classed as Scope 2 emissi E les of Scape 3 emissions are busil travel by means not owned or controlled by Red Bee Media Limited (e.g. grey

fleet and rental cars).

Energy Type Definition Total Volume (kWh) Calculated Emissions
(Tonnes of CO.e)

Employee Owned Emissions from business travel in rental cars or employee-owned 5472 1

Cars vehicles where the company is responsible for purchasing the fuel

(mandatory)
Total 5,472 1

Percentage Split of Emissions by Energy Use

Electricity
100%

Out of Scope

All fuets with biogenic content (such as 'Diesel and petrol (average biofue! blend)' ) should have the ‘outside of scopes' emissians reported to ensure a camplete
picture of an organisation's emissions is created. However, these are not required to be included in Red Bee Media Limited's emissions total.

Energy Type Total Volume (kWh) Calculated Emissions

{Tonnes of CO,e)
Transport (e.g. cars) - 0.05
Total - 0.05

How does it compare
The company must state the emissions and energy use from previous years reports. This allows the company to track their emissions to encourage monitoring
performance, As this is the first year of reporting, there are no comparisons of change from previous years.

Emission Year 12020 Year 2 2021 Year 3 2022 Year 4 2023

Tonnes of CO2e 1,479 - - -

Intensity Ratio
Intensity ratios compare emissions data with an appropriate business metric or financial indicator. Red Bee Media Limited has chosen to use tonnes of CO2e per
£ Tumover for its Intensity Ratio. As this is the first year of reporting, there are no comparisons of change from previous years.

Intensity Turnover Intensity Ratio (tCO,e / Turnover £000)
Measurement (£000)

Tonnes of CO2e per total £m sales revenue 88,742 16.7
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SECR Report Summary (continued)

Quantification and Reporting Methodology

Red Bee Media Limited has taken guidance from the UK Government Enviranmental Reporting Guidelines (March 2019), the GHG Reporting Protocol -
Corporate Standard, and from the UK Government GHG Conversion Factars for Company Reporting document for calculating carbon emissions. Energy usage
information (gas and electricity) has been abtained directly from the companie's energy suppliers and HH/AMR data, where available, for those supplies with
HH/AMR meters. Transport mileage and/or fuel usage data was pravided for their company and employee owned vehicles. CO2e emissions were calculated
using the appropriate emission factors from the UK Government GHG conversion inf ion and retained within the organisati Data Filg for reference where
required.

Energy Efficiency Action

No energy efficiency actions have been completed within the reporting year.

Section 172(1) Statement

The revised UK Corporale Govemance Code ('2018 Cade') was published in July 2018 and applies to accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019,
The Companies (Mi 1s Rep g) Regulations 2018 ('2018 MRR’) require Directors to explain how they considered the interests of key stakeholders and
the broader matters set out in section 172(1) (A) to (F) of the Companies Act 2006 ('S172') when performing their duty to promote the success of the Company
under $172,

The S172 statement focuses on matters of strategic importance to the Company, and the level of information disclosed is consistent with the size and the
complexily of the business. When making decisions, each Director ensures that they act in the way they consider, in good faith, would most likely promote the
Company's success for the benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard (among other matter) to:

S§172(1) (A) "The likely consequences of any decision in the long term”

The Directors understand the business and the evolving environment in which we operate, including the challenges of navigating through the telecommunication
industry. With the evolution of 5G and beyond, we are moving technological boundaries forward to create the biggest innavation platform ever. The number of
connected applications and devices will continue to increase exponentially, so too will the economic value which relies on their integrity. Intelligent networks will
carry an abundance of industry and consumer data, changing the nature of business competition. Securing those assets will make future network security key to
ensuring trustworthiness of soclely and industry.

S§172(1) (B) “The interests of the company's employees”

The Directors recognise that our employees are fundamental to our business and delivery of our strategic ambitions. The success of our business depends on
attracting, retaining and motivating employees. See Employment policies and Employee consultation in the Director's Report.

During the past three years Ericsson Group has set the foundation and re-designed our ways of working to create an even more positive employee experience in
support of our company transformation. During 2020 we have focused on the following areas: Ethics and compliance; Succession and people planning;
Performance and Employee er

S$172(1) (C) “The need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others"”

Our business mode! is built to manage changing market requirements and to capture new business opportunities. C focus and i d employees are
key to drive our business, create stakeholder value and to build a stranger company long term. With an agile and efficient business model, we create value for
our stakeholders by providing industry leading, high performing, sustainable and cost-efficient solutions to our customers.

The Company's business partners, including suppliers adhere to Ericsson’s Responsible sourcing program, covering four main areas: business ethics and
anti-corruption, human and labour rights, accupational health and safety and environmental management. Ericsson offers free online training to ensure
campliance.

$172(1) (D) “The impact of the company’s operations on the community and the environment”

Sustainability is central to Eri Y's purpose. We are it to creating positive impacts In soclety and reducing risks to Ericsson, our customers and society
through our technology, our solutions and the expertise of our people. The work is a continuous journey and our Sustainability and Corporate Responsibility
strategy covers three focus areas: Responsible business, Environmental sustainability and Digital inclusion.

Red Bee Media Limited adheres to the Ericsson Group policy on Sustainability and Corporate Responsibility. For more information on this please read our
ility and Corp Responsibility Report 2020 on pages 173-213 within the PDF of the Telefonaktiebalaget LM Ericsson Group 2020 Annual Report

(https:/Awww.ericsson.com/494 193/, Nocalfi Id 12020/annual-report-2020-en.pdf}.
Proactive management of topics relating to climate action and environment is a core p of 's Group sustainability gy. We | ge a
circular economy (design, use, re-use, recycle) approach in everything we do; and work to reduce environmental impacts and emi: from our operations, our

portfolio and in society.
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S$172(1) (E) "The desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct”

Ericsson Group's purpose is to emp: an intelligent, i and connected world in ways which are economically, environmentally and socially
responsible. Ericsson Group has clear frameworks, such as Code of Conduct, Code of Business Ethics & Compliance manuals, and its Modern Slavery
Statements, to ensure that its high standards are maintained both within Eri 1 and the business relationships we maintain.

Please visit the appropriate corporate website addresses for more information on the following subjecls:
- Telefonakliebolaget LM Ericsson Group 2020 Annuat Report (please see pages 131-213 within PDF)
hitps:/iwww.ericsson.com/494193/assetsflocalfinvestors/documents/2020/annual-report-2020-en.pdf

+ Code of business ethics - https//www.ericsson.com/en/about-us/corporate-governance/code-of-ethics

+ Code of conduct for suppliers - https:/Avww.ericsson.com/en/about-us/corporate-governance/code-of-ethics

« Occupational Health & Safely pollcy (please see pages 188-188 within PDF)
hitps:/www.efi 12020/annual-report-2020-en.pdf

S$172(1) (F) “The need to act fairly as bet V1 bers of the pany”

After weighing up all refevant factors, the Directors consider which course of action best enables delivery of our strategy through the long-term, taking into
consideration the impact on all siakeholders {suppliers, customers, employees, society and shareholders).

In discharging its section 172 dulies the Company has regard to the factors set out above. The directors also take into account the views and interests of a wider
set of stakeholders when making decisions. During the year the Directors received information to enable them to consider the impact of the company's decisions
on its key stakeholders. This information was distributed in a range of different formats, including through reports and presentations on our financial and
operational performance, non-financial KPIs and risk matters. We acknowledge that every decision we make will not necessarily resuit in a positive outcome for
all of our stakeholders and the Directors have to make difficult decisions based on competing priorities. By considering the company’s purpose and values,
together with its strategic priorities and having a process in place for decision-making, we do, however, aim to balance those different perspeclives.

As is normal for large companies, Directors have delegated authority for day-to-day management of the company to its key management executives and then
engage management in setting, approving and overseeing the execution of the strategy and relaled policies. During the year, we reviewed the company's
financial and operational performance; key transactions (if any). matters relaling to the commitments which were made as part of the Ericsson’s Group DPA with
the US Department of Justice; regulatory, funding and pensions matters, mechanisms of stakeholder engagement and diversily and inclusion. The Directors
received papers and reports on these matters which were then reviewed, discussed and approved, as necessary.
The impact of the company's activities on our stakeholders, including our colleagues, customers and suppliers is an important consideration when making
decisions. The Directors will sometimes engage directly with stakeholders on certain issues, but the size and distribution of our stakeholders and of
Telefonakhebolaget LM Ericsson Group means that stakeholder engagement often takes place at an operational or group level. This is deemed as being a more
flicient and eff pp , also helping to achieve a greater positive impact on environmental, social and other issues than by working alone as an
individual company. For delauks on how the Ericsson Group engages with its stakeholders and how stakeholder interests and section 172 duties have been
considered in reaching certain key strategic decisions, please see pages 182-193 of the Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson Group 2020 Annual Report, which is
available from:
https://www.ericsson.com/494 westors/docy 12020/ \-report-2020-en.pdf
As set out above, decisions taken by the Direclors consider the interests of our key stakeholders and the impacts of these decisions. The Direclors of the
Company feel that there has not been a singular example of what they consider is a key decision that has been made in regard to the matters set out in section
172(1)(a)-(f) when discharging our section 172 duties.

Approved for issue by the board of directors
DocuSigned by:
Liam B
3 53{8%&%&5&00«.

Director N
10 August 2021
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Directors' report

The Directors submit their directors' report and the audited financial statements of Red Bee Media Limited (the “Company”) for the full year ended 31 December
2020. The previous directors’ report and audited financial statements were for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Principal activities

The Company is a private company, limited by shares and incorporated and domiciled in the United Kinédcm. Its registered office and principal place of business
is Building 1 566 Chiswick High Road, London, England, W4 SBE.

The Company operates in the business to business media services industry. The principal activity of the Company is to provide outsourced and managed
services and technology i related to television broad post production, studio facilities also the creation, distribution, enhancement and promotion of
video content over any platform and via any display device or screen.

Going concern

The telecommunications and media industries are highly prioritized industries in times of crisis and currently the Ericsson group (NASDAQ: ERIC) delivers under
the Business as usual mode. During the COVID-18 pandemic, our teams ensure that critical infrastructure and therefore critical services for customers run
uninterrupted 24/7. Qur ability to maintain services becomes even more vital In times like we all pass now as we have a responsibility to our customers and wider
saciely to ensure that telecommunication and media networks remain up and running to the highest standard.

Currently we run business at same capacity and the customer contracts continue to be honored according to the ptan, without any discontinuance. Of course, the
maintenance services are the highest focus in this period but also the other business lines continue as per usual in order to strenglhen even more the
telecommunication and media infrastructure in the country. At this point we have not received any alarming message from our customers which might have an
immediate impact on our business.

While this is still an evalving situation at the time of issuing the financial of the Company, we ider that this crisis will nat have an immediate impact
an our business in the country and as well in the business sector we operate. However the evolution is highly unpredictable and the will continue to
monitor the potential impact and take the y steps to minimize any potential effects.

After ensuring that financial, operational and liquidity forecasting updates are maintained and reviewed on an ongoing basis, the positive results for the half year
2021 of both the company and the group with little financial impact being felt from the pandemic and receiving an undertaking from the ultimate parent company,
Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson, that it will provide all necessary financial support to the Company for at feast 12 months from the date of approval of these
financial statements, the directors have formed a judgement at the time of appraving the financial statements that there is a reasonable expectation that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they have adapted the going concern basis in
preparing financial statements.

Future developments

The broadcast and media industry continues to undergo major change as it responds to evolving media consumption habits and the increasing predominance of
global platforms such as Facebook, Apple, Netflix and Google. Red Bee will target these platforms as future customers, as well as the mulliple other online video
services platforms; and be the transfarmation partner of choice for other content owners, broadcasters and TV and media service providers.

Red Bee has a highly evolved OTT video managed services proposition. We will combine this with our wider managed services portfolio that spans the broadcast

and media value chains. We are also further strengthening our portfolio through significant platform i to increase market competitiveness and offer
greater customer service flexibility. Our unique ability to offer i d broad and media d services will enable our customers to realise synergies
to create the ulli d and media experi In turn, this can drive opportunity for our customers and promote consumer loyalty.
Red Bee is the trusted advisor to guide, support, imp! 1t and ge its ’ transformation in the evolution of their video and data services customer
propositions.

ifically we are pti sarvice based technology platforms augmented with at lon and star i methods and toots, while

applyrng our customer locused global delivery model and managed services capabilities. Qur offering will enable our cuslomers to reduce time to market,
minimize business continuity risk, and achieve significant CAPEX and OPEX savings.

Employ t and busi relationships
Please see the Strategic Report $172(1) {B) and $172(1) (C) on page 6.
Dividends

The directors have not dectared a final dividend in respect of 2020 (2019: £nil). No interim dividend payment was made in 2020 (2019: £nil).

Post balance sheet event

On 19 March 2021, a loan agreement from the immediate parent undertaking, Red Bee Media Holding, was signed by the company. This loan amounted to
£75,000k and was used to clear the outstanding loan. The loan is repayable in full (including any accrued interests) in 180 days from the date of disbursement,
with interest being charged at 0.88% per annum, and payable on the last day of the loan 15 September 2021.

On 27 April 2021, an additional loan agreement from the immediate parent undertaking, Red Bee Media Holding, was signed by the company. This loan
amounted to £5,000k. The loan is repayable in full (including any accrued interests) in 139 days from the date of disbursement (29 April 2021), with interest
being charged at 0.8798% per annum, and payable on the last day of the loan 15 September 2021.
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Directors and their interests

The directors of the Company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements were as follows:

Mr S Nylund
Mr L O'Brien
Mr J Amold

Mr B Odevall

None of the directors held any interest in the share capital of the Company or that of its Swedish parent, Red Bee Media Holding AB, at any time during the year.
Duiing the year and at the date of approval of the financial statements, the Company held third party indemnity cover in respect of directors.

The directors are the only key management personnel of the Company and their remuneration is included in the disclosure in note 21 of the financial statements.

Financial risk management

The Company’s financial risk management policy is primarily managed by Ericsson Group Treasury. The principal aim is to ensure that appropriate financing is in
place to manage the Company's liquidity as well as financial assets and liabilities, and to control financial risk exposures in a manner consistent with undertying
business risks and financial policies. The Company does not undertake any local hedging activities.

See Note 19 for further details on foreign exchange, interest rate and liquidity risks.

Disabled employees
Appli for yment by disabled persons are fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the applicants concerned. In the event of members of staff

becoming disabled every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the Company continues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of
the Company that the training, career develop: and p ion of di persons should, as (ar as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

Employee consultation
The Company places i ble value on the invol t of its f and has conlinued to keep them informed on malters affecting them as employees

and on the various factors affecting the performance of the Company. This is achieved through formal and informal meetings. Employee representatives are
consulted regulary on a wide range of matters affecting their current and future interests.

Employees are engaged with on a group wide basis via Voice Surveys, where by the eng; nis via heads. These surveys serve as
a multi directional tool to feedback to the Ericsson group on subjects that matter and aﬁecl the staff and their mteresls and discussions are implemented on
improvements and actions needed.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

ble law and regutation

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial s in with

Company law requires the directors to prep: i s for each fi ial year. Under that law the directors are required to prepare the group financial
statements in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union. The financial slalements also
comply wilh International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for thal period. In
preparing the fi ial the dil are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

- state whether applicable IFRSs as issued by the JASB and as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

+ make judgements and accounting estimates thal are reasonable and prudent; and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.
The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and henca for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company's transaclions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any lime the financial posilion of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

Directors’ confirmations

in the case of each director in office at the date the Directors' Report is approved:

+ so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditors are unaware; and

- they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the company's auditors are aware of that information.

Independent auditors

Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the audilors will be deemed to be reappointed and Detoitte LLP will therefore continue in office.

Approved for Issue by the board of directors

DocuSigned by:
[jam Bl
S17AG8328BAE4DS...
Mr L O'Brien

Director
10 August 2021
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Red Bee Media Limited

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Red Bee Media Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements of Red Bee Media Limited (the ‘company’):

- give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of its loss for the year then ended;

« have been propenly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB); and

« have been prepared in 1ce with the requil of the Ci ies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

« the income statement; .

« the statement of comprehensive income;

- the balance sheet;

+ the statement cashflows

« the statements of changes in equity; and

+ the related notes 1 to 23.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is appficable law and international accounting standards in conformity with the
of the C: Act 2006 and IFRSs as issued by the IASB.

q P

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and appli law. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the
Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC's’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the fi ial we have luded that the di ' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast
significant doubt on the company's ability to cantinue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised
for issue.

in the rel ions of this report.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concem are d

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report , other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, The directors
are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover lhe other information and,
excepl to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we da not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the ather information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise app to be ially mi: d. If we identify such ial i istencles or

material misstatements, we are required to determine whather this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial stalements themselves. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Resy ibilities of dil

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such intemal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concemn basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high leve) of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with 1ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's websile at: www.frc.org. sresponsibilities. This

description forms part of our auditor’s report.

10
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Red Bee Media Limited

Independent auditors' report to the members of Red Bee Media Limited (continued)

Extent to which the audit was idered ble of d ing irregularities, including fraud

trregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to
detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregutarities, including
fraud is detailed below.

We considered the nature of the company's industry and its control environment, and reviewed the company's documentation of their policies and procedures
relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regutations. We also enquired of management about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
irregularities.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and reg yir that the pany op in, and identified the key laws and regulations that:
+hada dlrecl effect on the determination of i and discl in the financial statements. These included UK Companies
Act legislation, tax legislation; and

- do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamenta! to the company's ability to operate
or to avoid a material penalty. These included Employment rights, Equality Act, Health and Safety at work, Trade Union and Labour
relations and Environmental Protection Act.

We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as tax, IT and pensions specialists regarding the opportunities and
incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements.

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our specific procedures performed to address it are
described betow:

The risk that the entity does not account for its material revenue comracts in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework in particular where they
contain measurement elements that could result in a ial in resp to the risk, we have identified controls to ensure accurate contract
assessment and accounting treatment of identified performance obligalions are accurately set up. We have tested design and implementation of relevant
controls that are in place to ensure that the accounting treatment of contracts are correclly assessed according to the contract and IFRS 15. Our substantive
testing procedures Include assessment of the accounting treatment with [FRS15 and luding if it is in I with IFRS 15,

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override. In addressing the
risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tesled the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements
made in making accounting esti are indicative of a p | bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or
outside the normal course of business.

In addition ta the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

- reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess pli with ,. of laws
and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

« performing analyticat procedures to identify any unusual or v d i ps that may indi risks of material misstatement due
to fraud:

- enquiring of management, intemal audit and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and dlaims, and instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

~ reading minutes of ings of those ged with gov e, and reviewing intemal audit reports, and reviewing any correspondence with
HMRC.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
« the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and
« the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material
misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to raport by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or relurns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

« the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

+ certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

‘We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our
audit work, for this repont, or for the opinions we have formed.

James Hunter (FCA) (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Abbots House,

Abbey St,

Reading,

RG138D

Date: 10 August 2021

1
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Red Bee Media Limited

Income statement
Year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note(s) £000 £000
Revenue 2 88,742 97,661
Cost of sales (83,732) (91,550)
Gross profit 5,010 . 6,111
Administration and selling expenses {10,577) {11,348)
Exceptional items 7 - 3.183
Operating loss (5,567) (2,054)
Finance income ] 80 3,052
Finance expense 6 {2,703) (4,442)
Loss before income tax (8,190) {3.444)
Income tax expense 5(a), 5(b) (2,227) (463)
Loss for the financial year {10,417) (3.907)
All of the above results relate to continuing activities.
Statement of comprehensive income
Year ended 31 December 2020
2020 2019
Note £000 £000
Loss for the financial year (10,417) (3,907)
Other comprehensive (expense) / |
{tems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension plan 20 {(1,895) (12,051)
Tax on item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 5(¢) 5,057 2,378
Total comprehensive expense (7,255) {13,580)

The total comprehensive expense above is attributable to the owners of the Company.
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Red Bee Media Limited

TR b T LD L 11

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note £000 £000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Inangible assets. 8 - 7
Property, plant and equipment ] 67,441 65,374
Right-of-use assets . 18 22,854 23,016
Deferred tax assets 5(c) 41,389 40,253
131,684 128,650
Current assets
Inventories 1" 1,465 2,510
Investments 10 5 5
Contract assets 2 1,798 1,880
Trade and other receivables 12 14,659 16,182
Cash and cash equivalents 13 6,538 6,131
24,465 26,708
TOTAL ASSETS 156,149 155,358
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 16 12,000 12,000
Retained deficit / earnings 17 (4,186) 3,068
Total equity 7,814 15,069
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 18 19,858 20,553
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 15 81 96
Pension liability 20 22,676 22,310
42,615 42,959
Current liabilities
Contract Liabilities 2 7,741 3,938
Trade and other payables 14 91,174 87,081
Lease liabilities 18 4,452 3,412
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 15 2,353 2,899
105,720 97,330
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 156,149 155,358

The financial statements on pages 12 to 37 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 10 August 2021 and were signed on their behalf by Mr L
O'Brien on 10 August 2021,

DocuSlgned by:
Liom Bl

— 517AB8328BAEADG...

Mr L O'Brien (Director}
Registered No: 04257461
10 August 2021
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Red Bee Media Limited

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note(s) £000 £000
QOperating activities
Loss before income tax {8,190) (3,444)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property plant and equipment 9 13,659 14,873
Amortisation 8 7 140
Depreclation of Right-of-Use Assets 3,940 3,549
Impairment of Right-of-Use Assets 18 579 438
Loss on di | of ir in subsidiary 10 - 2,750
Disposal of Piero - (7.416)
Finance Income 6 (7) (3,007)
Finance Costs 6 2,211 4,442
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 8
Bad debt provision 3) (121)
Changes in operating net assets
Decrease in inventories 1,045 667
Decrease in contract assets 82 55
Decrease in trade and other receivables 1,523 1,361
Decrease in contract liabilities 3,803 (3.628)
Increase in trade and other payables 5,815 3,796
Decrease in pension liability (1,508) (1.688)
Increase / {decrease) in provisions (561) 1,386
Cash generated from operations 22,395 14,162
Tax refund / (paid) - -
Cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities 22,395 14,162
Investing activities
Investments in property, plant and equipment 9 (15,726) (18,022)
Proceed from Sale of Piero - 6,013
Dividend received - 2,956
Interest received 7 51
Cash outflow from | Ing activit (15,719) (9,002)
Financing activities
Principal elements of lease payments 18 (4,130) (2,784)
Interest paid (965) (1,321)
Interest paid on loan from Parent (1,246) (2,861)
Cash (outflow)/inflow from fi ing activiti {6,341) (6,966)
Net change In cash and cash equivalents 335 {1,8086)
Cash and c¢ash equival , at the beginning of year 13 6,131 7,892
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 6 73 45
Cash and cash equivalents, at the end of year 13 6,538 6,131

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year include amounts held in foreign currencies of £501k (see
note 13). The prior year cash and cash equivalents is contains foreign currencies of £358k.

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Share (Accumulated losses) / Total

capital Retained earnings equity

Note £000 £000 £000

At 1 January 2019 17 12,000 16,649 28,649
Loss for the financial year 17 - {3.907) (3,907)
QOther comprehensive expense - {8.673) (9,673)
At 31 December 2019 12,000 3,069 15,069
Loss for the financiat year 17 - (10,417) (10.417)
Other comprehensive income 17 - 3,162 3,162
At 31 December 2020 17 12,000 (4,186) 7,814

14
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Red Bee Media Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020
1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The Company is a private pany, limited by shares and incorporated and domiciled in England, the United Kingdom. Its registered office and principal place of
business is Building 1 566 Chiswick High Road, London, England, W4 58E.

The financial statements of the Company have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the Intemational A ing Board (IASB) and have
been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

There is no material difference between the fair value of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amount. Amounts in the financial reports have been
rounded to the nearest thousand pounds.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as described in the accounting policy on financial instruments and plan
assets related to defined benefit pension plans.

The p ion of fi ial in confarmity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It alsa requires management to exercise
its ]udgemenl in the process of applymg the Company's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
ons and are ifi to the financial statements, are disclosed in this note under the heading ‘Critical accounting estimates and judgements’.

4

Going concern
The telecommunications and media industries are highly prioritized industries in times of crisis and currently the Ericsson group (NASDAQ: ERIC) delivers under
the Business as usual mode. During the COVID-19 pandemic, our teams ensure that critical infrastructure and therefore critical services for customers run

uninterrupted 24/7. Our ability to maintain services becomes even more vital in times like we all pass now as we have a resp ility to our ¢t and wider
saciety to ensure that telecommunication and media networks remain up and running to the highest standard.
Currently we run business at same ity and the continue to be honored according to the plan, without any discontinuance. Of course, the

maintenance services are the highest focus in this period but also the other business lines continue as per usual in order to strengthen even more the
telecommunication and media infrastructure in the country. At this point we have not received any alarming message from our customers which might have an
immediate impact on our business.

While this is still an evolving situation at the time of issuing the financial statements of the Company, we cansider that this crisis will not have an immediate impact
on our business in the country and as wellin the business sector we operate. However the evolution is highly unpredictable and the will continue to
monitor the potential impact and take the n y steps to minimize any p ial effects.

After ensuring that financial, operational and liquidity forecasting updates are maintained and reviewed on an ongoing basis, the positive results for the half year
2021 of both the company and the group with little financial impact being felt from the pandemic and receiving an undertaking from the ullimate parent company,
Telefonakliebolaget LM Ericsson, that it will provide all necessary financial support to the Company for at least 12 months from the date of approval of these
financial statements, the directors have formed a judgement at the time of approving the financial statements that there is a reasonable expectation that the
Company has adequate resources o continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they have adopted the going concern basis in
preparing financial statements.

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2020

New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2020 reporting periods and have not been
early adopted by the group. These are not exp to have a ial impact on the entity in the current or future reporting pericds and on
le future trar

15
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Red Bee Media Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2 - Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
The Phase 2 Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 although early application is permitted. The practical expedient

and refiefs available regarding ch to effective interest rates and hedge relationships do nat apply to the Company.

The Group is currently ing the need to impl 1t operational and system changes to ensure that valuation and settlement of instruments affected by new
benchmark rates can be handled within the internal reporting p This ise is not exp d to have a significant impact on the financial reporting
process,

IFRS 3 - "Business Combinations”
ISAB issued an amendments to IFRS 3 Busil Combinations, with ref to the Conceptual Fi with an effective date 1 January 2022

IAS 16 - "Property, Plant and Equipment”

Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the | ion and dit y for it to be capable of ing in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entily recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in

prafit or loss. Amendment has an effective date 1 January 2022

JAS 37 - "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets"

Requirement to specify which costs an entity needs to include when assessing whether a is or | king. The di apply a “directly
related cost approach.” The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services include bolh incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly
related to contract aclivities, General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excduded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. Amendment has an effective date 1 January 2022.

IFRS 17 - “Insurance contracts”
The new standard seeks to establish principles for the recognition, meast 1S, pre ion and discl of insurance contracts, The new standard has
effective date 1 January 2023.

The Company has not yet finalized the evaluation of any impact on financial result or position from the above amendments.

Consolidation exemption

The financial contain inf ion about Red Bee Media Limited as an individual company and do not contain consclidated financial information as the
parent of a group. The Company is exempt under section 400 of the Companles Act 2006 from the requi to prep: lidated financial asit
and its subsidiary undertakings are included by full idation in the i d financial of its ulli parent, Telefonakligbol LM Ericsson
('LME"). °

.

Statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows is prepared in accordance with the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank, and short-term investments
that are highly liquid monetary financial instruments with a remaining maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition.

Foreign currency transactions and translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement,

16
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Red Bee Media Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition

IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” is a principle-based model of recognizing revenue from customer contracts. It has a five-step model that
requires revenue to be recognized when conlrol over goods and services are transferred to the customer.

Standard products and services

Products and services are classified as standard solutions if they do not require significant installation and integration services to be delivered. Installation and
integration services are generally completed within a short period of time, from the delivery of the related products. These products and services are viewed as
separate distinct performance obligations. This type of customer contract is usually signed as a frame agreement and the customer issues individual purchase
orders to commit to purchases of products and services over the duration of the agreement.

Revenue for standard products shall be recogmzed when control over the equipment is transferred to the customer at a poml in time. This assessment shall be
viewed from a r's p ive g indi s such as transfer of titles and risks, customer p ion, and billing rights. For
hardware sales, transfer of conlrol is usually deemed to occur when the equipment arrives at the customer site and ror software sales, when the licenses are
made available to the customer. Contractual terms may vary, therefore judgment will be applied when assessing the indicators of transfer of control. Revenue for
installation and integration services is recognized upon completion of the service. Costs incurred in delivering standard products and services are recognized as
costs of sales when the related revenue is recognized in the Income Statement. Costs incurred relating to performance obligations not yet fully delivered are
recognised as Inventories.

Transaction prices under these contracts are usually fixed, and mostly billed upon delivery of the hardware or software and completion of installation services. A
proportion of the transaction price may be billed upan formal acceptance of the related installation services, which will result in a contract asset for the proportion
of the transaction price that is not yel billed. Amounts billed are normally subject to payments terms within 60 days from invoice date. Customer finance
agreements may be agreed separately with some customers where payment terms exceed 179 days.

Revenue for recurring services such as customer support and managed services is recognized as the services are delivered, generally pro-rata over time. Costs
incurred in delivering recurring services are recognized as cost of sales as they are incurred. Transaction prices under these contracts are billed over time, often
on a quarterly basis. Transaction price for managed services contract may include variabl ideration that is esti d based on p ce and prior
experience with the customer. Amounts billed are normally subject to payments terms within 60 days from invoice date. Contract liabilities or receivables may
arise depending on whether the quartery billing s in advance or in arrears. Contract for standard products and services applies to business in all segments.

Customized solution

Some products and services are sold together as part of a customized solution to the customer. This type of requires signifi ir ion and
integration services to be delivered within the solution, normally over a period of more than 1 year. These products and services are viewed together as a
combined performance obligation. This type of contract is usually sold as a firm contract in which the scope of the solution and obligations of both parties are
clearly defined for the duration of the Cf ized solution does not have any alternative use to Ericsson as it cannot be sold to or used by other
cuslomers.

Revenue for the combined performance obligation shall be recognized over time if progress of completion can be reliably measured and enforceable right to
payment exisls over the duration of the contract. The progress of completion is estimated by reference to the output deli d such as achi t of contract
milestones and customer acceptance. This method d ines revenue over the duration of the contract, and it Is considered appropriate as it reflects
the nature of the customized solution and how integration service is delivered in these projects. If the criteria above are not mel then all revenue shall be
I{ i upon the complation of the customized solution, when final acceptance is provided by the customer. Costs incurred in delivering |

are recognlzed as costs of sales when the related revenue milestone is recognized in the Income Statement. Costs incurred relating to future revenue milestones
are asl ies and for recoverability on a regular basis.

Transaction price under these contracts is usually a fixed fee, split into a number of progress pay ts or billing mil as defined in the contract. In most
cases, revenue recognized Is limited to the progress pay or L ditional billing mil over the duration of the contract, therefore no contract asset or
contract liability arises on these contracts. In some contracls, revenue may be recognized in advance of billing milestones if enforceable payment rights exist at
all times over the contract duration. This will result in an unbilled receivable balance until billing milestones are reached. Amounts bilied are normally subject to
payments terms within 60 days from invoice date. Cust finance ag may be agreed separately with some customers where payment terms exceed
179 days.

Contract for customized solution applies to the Business Support Systems (BSS) business within the segment Digital Services and the Media Solutions business
wilhin the segment Emerging Business and Other.
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Red Bee Media Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Accounting policies (continued)

C tract related bal.

Trade receivables include amounts that have been billed in accardance with customer contract terms and amounts that the Company has an unconditional right
to, with only passage of time before the amounts can be billed in accordance with the customer contract terms. Customer finance credits arise from credit terms
exceeding 179 days in the customer contract or a separate financing agreement signed with the customer. Customer finance is a class of financial assets that is
managed separalely from receivables. See Section F for further informaticn on credit risk manag 1t of trade receivables and finance credits.

In accordance with IFRS 15, where significant financing is provided to the customer, revenue is adjusted to reflect the impact of the financing transaction. These
transactions could arise from the customer finance credits above if the contracted interest rate is betow the market rate or through implied financing transactions
due to payment terms of more than one year from the date of transfer of control. The Company has elected to use the practical expedient not to adjust revenue
for transactions with payment terms, measured from the date of transfer of control, of one year or less.

Contract asset is unbilled sales amount refating to performance obligation that has been satisfied under customer contract but is conditional on terms other than
only the passage of time before payment of the consideration is due.

Contract liability relates to amounts that are paid by or due from customers for which performance obligati are \ it or partially satisfied. Under previous
standards these balances have been disclosed as deferred revenue within other current liabifities, and the Company concluded that the batances meet the
definition of contract liability under IFRS 15. Advances from customers are also included in the contract liability balance.

Long term contracts

The amount of profit attributable to the stage of completion of a long term contract is recognised when the outcome of the contract can be foreseen with
reasanable certainty. Provision is made for any losses as soon as they are foreseen.

Exceptional items

Exceptional items are those significant items which are separately disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence to enable a full undersianding of the Company's
financia! performance. For further details refer to note 7.

Software
Software is stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

the devel, of the softy , and it Is probable that the

Internally develaped software is capitalised where there exists the intention and ability to
software will generate future economic benefits,

Sub cosls are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Amortisation on software is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated
useful lives of 3-15 years.

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date,

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the income statement.
Investments

Ir 1S in st iaries are d for at cosl in the stand-alone financial statements of the Company, including costs that were incidental to the
acquisition. Incidental costs incurred in acquiring i are ded as deferred isition costs until the date of completion of the acquisition, at which
paint these costs are reclassified into the investment.

Impairment

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested at least annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment wh events ar changes in ci indi that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment’ loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value

. less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash generating units).
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Accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Plant and machinery and fixtures and fittings are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Histarical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the assel’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
the Income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on plant and machinery and fixtures and fitlings is catculated using the straight line method to allocate thelr cost or revalued amounts, net of their
residual values, over their eslimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant and machinery 3 - 15 years, or contract term if shorter

Fixtures and fittings 3-10years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Assets under construction represent assets that are not operational. As a result these assets are not depreciated until transferred to appropriate asset class and
brought in to use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the income statement.
Leasing

Prior to 1 January 2019 , Rentals under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term, even if the
payments are nol made on such a basis. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to sign an operating lease are similarly spread on a straight line basis
over the lease term.

From 1 January 2019 onwards

The assets leased by the Company are real estate related.

Leasing when the Company is the lessee

The C rec ight-of- assets and lease liabilities arising from all leases in the balance sheet, with some exceptions. This model reflects that, at

the start of a lease, the lessee always obtains the right to use an asset for a period of time and has an obligation to pay for that right.

In the assessment of a lease contract the lease components are d from | P s and the lease term is defined based on the contract

lease term and when reasonably certain estimated extension or termination options are included.

The lease liability is initally measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted normally using the
Company's incremental borrownng rate. The incremental borrowing rate is calculated considering interest swap rates, the credit spread on bonds issued by real
estate ies and the i of the entity that signs the lease. Lease payments included in the liability are fixed payments, variable payments

depending on an index or rate, residual values and penalties for termination of contracts.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which equals the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received plus any initial direct costs, and restoration costs,

The Company applies the recognition exemption for short-term leases and leases for which the underlying asset Is of low-value recognizing the lease payments
for those leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The interest expense on lease liabilities is presented as a component of finance costs
separate from the depreciation charges for right-of-use assets. In the statement of cash flows, cash payments for the principal portion of the lease liability is
reported within financing activities while payments for short-term leases, | lue assets and variable lease exp not included in the measurement of the
lease liability are classified within operating activities. For more information regarding leasing, see note 18, “Leases.”

Leasing when the Company is the lessor

Leasing contracts with the Company as lessor are classified as finance leases when the majority of risks and rewards are transferred to the lessee, and otherwise
as operaling leases. Under a finance lease, a receivable is recognized at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease and revenue is recognized in
accordance with the revenue recognition principles. Under operaling leases the equipment is recorded as property, plant and equipment and revenue as well as
depreciation is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

Financial assets

Financial assels are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognized on the settlement date. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the invesiments have expired or
have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all nsks and rewards 01 ownership. Separate assets or habllmes are recogmzed if any rights
and obligations are created or retained in the transfer. The C its fi ial assets in the followil at ized cost, at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), and at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The ification depend: on the istics of the asset and
the business model in which it is held. Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financia! assets not carried at fair vatue
through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the
income statement. The fair values of quoted financial investments and derivatives are based on quoted market prices or rates. If official rates or market prices are
not available, fair values are calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets are dassified as amortized cost if the contractual terms give rise to payments that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding and the financial asset is held in a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows. These
assels are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, minus impairment allowances. Interest income and gains and losses
from financial assets at amortized cost are recognized in financial income.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Assets are classified as FVOCI if the contractual terms give rise to payments that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding and the financial asset is held in a business model whose objective is achieved by both callecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value r ized in other comprehensive income (OCl), except for effective interest,
impairment gains and losses and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognized in the income statement. Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or
loss in OCl is reclassified to the income statement.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

All financial assets that are not classified as either amortized cost or FVOC) are classified as FVTPL. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives are classified as held for trading, unless they are designated as hedging instruments for
the purpose of hedge accounting. Assets held for trading are classified as current assets. Debt instruments classified as FVTPL, but not held.

For trading, are classified on the balance sheet based on their maturity date (i.e., those with a maturity longer than one year are classified as non-current).
Investments in shares and participations are classified as FVTPL and classified as no t fi ial assets. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of the FVTPL category (excluding derivatives and customer financing) are presented in the income statement within financial income in the period in which
they arise. Gains and losses on derivatives are presented in the income statement as follows. Gains and losses on derivatives that hedge operating assets or
liabilities, financial assets and financial liabilities are presented as cost of sales, financial income and financial expense, respectively. Gains and losses on
customer financing are presented in the income statement as selling expenses. Dividends on equity instruments are recognized in the income statement as part
of financial income when the Company's right to receive payments is established.

Impairment in relation to financial assets

At each balance sheet date, financial assets classified as either amortized cost or FVOCI and contract assets are d for impail 1t based on Exp
Credit Losses (ECL). ECLs are the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Company expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always equal to lifetime
ECL. The Company has established a provision matrix based on historical credit loss experience, which has been adjusted for current conditions and

ions of future ic conditions. The losses are recognized in the income statement. When there is no reasonable expectation of collection, the asset
is written off.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabililies are recognised when the Company b bound to the contractual abligations of the instrument. Financial liabilities are derecognised when
they are extinguished, i.e. when the obligation specified in the is discharged fled or expires.
Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Inventories

Contract work in progress includes amounts related to service contracts with ongoing work in progress. Costs comprise direct labour and where applicable, those
overheads that have been incurred in refation to the contract.

Income taxes

Income taxes in the financial statements include both current and deferred taxes. Income taxes are reported in the income statement unless the underlying item is
reported directly in equity or OCL. For those items, the related income tax is also reported directly in equity or OCI. A current tax liabilily or asset is recognised for
the estimated taxes payable or refundable for the current year or prior years.

Deferred tax is recognised for temporary differences betwaen the book values of assets and liabilities and their tax values. A deferred tax asset is recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the ible temporary diff and tax losses carried forward can be
utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised for the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit or when it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rate that is expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the tax laws that have been

or substantively d by the reporting date. An adjustment of deferred tax assetfiability balances due to a change in the tax rate is recognised in the
income statement, unless it relates to a temporary difference earlier recognised directly in equity or OCI, in which case the adjustment is also recognised in equity
or OCl.

The measurement of deferred tax assets involves judgement regarding the deduclibility of costs not yet subject to taxation and estimates regarding sufficient
future taxable income to enable utilisation of unused tax losses in different tax jurisdictions. All deferred tax assels are subject to annual review of probable
utilisation.

Provisions

Provisions are made when there are legal or constructive obligations as a result of past events and when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to sette the obligations and the amounts can be reliably estimated. When the effect of the time value of money is material, discounting is made of
estimated outflows. However, the actual outflows as a result of the obligations may differ from such estimates.

Project related provisions include estimated losses on onerous contracts, contractual penalties and undertakings. For losses an customer contracts, a provision
equal to the total estimated loss is recorded when a loss from a contract is anticipated and possible to estimate reliably. These contract loss estimates include any
prabable penaities to a customer under a loss contract.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Pensions

Pensions are classified as either defined contribution plans or defined benefit plans. Under a defined contribution plan, the pany's only obligation is to pay a
fixed amount to a separate entity (a pension trust fund) with no obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee
benefits. The related actuarial and investment risks fall on the employee. The expenditures for defined contribution plans are recognised as expenses during the
period when the employee provides service. Under a defined benefit plan, it is the company's obligation to provide agreed benefits to current and former
employees. The related actuarial and investment risks fall on the company.

The Company operates a defined benefit pension schemes and a defined contribution pension scheme for its employees. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Company.

Pension scheme liabililies are measured annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future outflows using interest rates on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the
liability. Pension scheme assets are measured using market values at the balance sheet date.

The pension scheme deficit is recognised in full on the balance sheet. The deferred tax relating to a benefit liability is recorded separately in deferred tax assets.

Increases in the present value of the scheme liabilities expected to arise from employee service in the period are charged to operating profit. The net interest
amount that is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit obligation is included within net pension scheme finance costs in the income
statement. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in OCl in the period in which they occur.

Critical accounting esti and judg t

The preparation of financial statements and application of accounting standards often involve management's judgement and the use of estimates and
assumptions deemed to be reasonable at the time they are made. However, other results may be derived with different judgements or using different
assumptions or estimates, and events may occur that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected. The following are
the accounting policies subject to such judgements and the key sources of estimation uncertainty that the Company believes could have the most significant
impact on the reported results and financial position.

Revenue recognition

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The Company uses estimates and ludgmenls in determining the amount and timing of revenue under IFRS 15, particularly when determining the transaction price
and its ion to p i identified under the contract. Transaction price may consist of variabl such as di performance
related price and Iti Tr: ion price, including variable considerations, is esti at the cc of the (and p
thereafter). Judgment is used in the estimation process based on historical experience with the type of business and customer,

IFRS 15 also requires revenue to be allocated to each performance obligations by reference to their standalone selling prices. The Company considers that an
adjusted market assessment approach should be used to estimate stand-alone selling prices for its products and services for the purposes of allocating
transaction price. These estimates are comprised of prices set for similar and circt djusted to reflect appropriate profit margins for the
market. Discounts relating to specific performance obligations are included in their respective standalone selling prices. The method of allocating transaction
price to each performance obligations based on their respective standalone selling prices means that discounts that do not refate to specific performance

obligations will be allocated proportionately to each performance obligations.

Judgments made in relation to accounting policies applied

Manag applies Judg when ing the customer’s ability and intention to pay in a contract. The assessment is based on the latest customer credit
standing and the customer's past payment history. This assessment may change during the contract execution, and if there is evidence of deterioration in the
customer’s ability or intention to pay, then under IFRS 15 no further revenue shall be gnized until the collectability criteria is met. Conversely, this
assessment may also change favaurably over time, upan which revenue shall now be recognized on a contract that did net initially meet the collectability criteria.

Revenue for prod shall be recognised when control over the equipment is transferred to the customer at a pomt m ume This assessment shall be
viewed from a r's idering indi such as transfer of titles and risks, ion, and billing rights.
Judgment may be applied i m determmmg whether risk and rewards have been transferred to the customer and whether the cuslomer has accepted the products.
In a sale of software licence, judgment may also be applied to determine when the software is made available to the customer by considering when they can
direct the use of, and obtain substantially all the benefits of, the licence. Often all indicators of transfer of control are assessed together and an overall judgment
formed as to when transfer of control has occurred in a customer contract.

Revenue for customised solutions shall be recognized over time |f progress of completion can be reliably d and enf right to pay exists over
the duration of the The prog of is by reference to the output delivered such as achievement of contract milestones and
customer acceptance. Judgment are applied when determining the appropriate revenue milestones that best reflect the progress of completion and are aligned
with key acceptance stages within the contract.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Trade and fi fvabl

The Company monitors the financial stability of its ct s and the envi in which they operate to make estimates regarding the likelihood that the
individual receivables will be paid. Credit risks for outstanding custamer finance credils are regularly assessed as well, and aflowances are recarded for estimated
losses.

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes of assets and liabilities and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. The valuation of deferred tax assets is based upon management's estimates of future taxable income in different tax
jurisdictions.

Accounting for income, value added and other taxes
Accounting for these items is based upon evaluation of income, value added and other tax rules in all jurisdictions where we perform activities. The total

complexity of rules related to taxes and the accounting for these require manag 's invol Wt in judge reg g of trar i and in
i of probabl of claimed deductions and/or disputes.

Pensions

Accounting for the costs of defined benefit pension plans is based on actuarial valuations, relying on key estimates for discount rates, expected return on plan
assets, future salary increases, employee tumover rates and mortality tables. The discount rate assumptions are based on rates for high-quality fixed-income
investments with durations as close as possible to the Company’s pension plans.

2 Revenue

All revenue is derived from one ing activity. An lysis of revenue by geographical market is given below, based on the country in which the order is

received:
2020 2019
£000 £000
UK 83,175 89,606
Europe 4,203 5,846
Other 1,364 2,209
88,742 97,661

All revenue is derived from the main activity of the company. An analysis of revenue by category is given below, based on the commodity in which the order is
received:

2020 2019
£000 £000

External Safes:
Customer Services - standard . 88,742 97,661
88,742 97,661

During the year three customers, from the UK geographical market, individually contributed to more than 10% of the company’s total revenue. The total value of
revenue derived from these three customers amounted to £58,649k (2019: three customers; £64,944k).

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

2020 2019
£000 £000
Contract assets 1,798 1,880
Contract liabilities 7,741 3,938

Contract liabilities reduced due to the unwinding of specific customer contracts.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates
to performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year:

Revenue recognised in the year 2020 2019
£000 £000
Revenue recognised in the year related to the opening cantract liability balance 2,540 5,436
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2 Revenue (continued)

Unsatisfied long-term contracts

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from contracts:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Unsati long-term o 237,297 232,731
Management expects that 34% (2019: 42%) of the ion price to the unsatisfied contracts as of 31 December 2020 will be recognised as revenue

during the next reporting period. The remaining 66% (2019: 58%) will be recognised in the 2021 financial year or later,

3 Operating loss

This is stated after charging:

2020 2019
Note £000 £000
Amortisation of intangible assets other than goodwill 8 7 140
Depreciation of owned fixed assets g 13,659 14,873
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 8
Depreciation of Right to use Assets 18 4,059 3,549
Impairment of Right to use Asset 18 - 439
Foreign exchange gains 6 (74) (45)
Auditors' remuneration - for audit of the Company's and parent financiat 1 138
statements
Exceptional items 7 - 3,183

For 2020, The Ericsson Group has changed to a centralised audit approach, the centralised fees are pald by another subsidiary company in the group, Ericsson
itd. The Company bears the auditors’ remuneration for direct audit cost of the Company.

4 Staff costs

2020 2019
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 41,704 41,346
Soclal security costs . 4,853 4,956
Other pension costs:
Defined contribution pension costs 2,467 3,150
49,024 49,452
The monthly average number of employees during the year was as follows:
2020 2019
No. No.
Operational 730 855
Management and administration 40 47
830 902
5 Income tax credit and deferred tax
a. Tax credit
2020 2019
£000 £000
Current tax:
Adjustments in respect of prior year (1,694) -
Total current tax (1,694) -
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences - 2,577
Fixed assets (1,484) -
IFRS 16 (6) -
Effect of rate change {4,110) 535
Other temporary difference (119) -
Pension 287 -
Adjustments in respect of prior year 9,353 {2,649)
Total deferred tax 3,921 463

Income tax credit 2,227 463
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§ Income tax credit and deferred tax (continued]

b. Factors affecting tax credit for the year

The UK standard rate of tax was 19% in 2019 and 2020. As the 17% CIT rate was legislated to take effect from 1 April 2020, the 17% rate was used for the
calculation of the deferred tax in FY 2019. It has been reversed in FY 2020, as the CIT rate remained 19%.

2020 2019

£000 £000
(Loss)/profit before income tax {8,180) (3,444)
Tax at effective rate 19% (2019: 19%) (1,556) (654)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 235 (556)
Adjustments in respect of prior year 7,659 (2,649)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences - 4,418
Pension timing differences recognised though OCI - (631)
Tax effect of reducing tax rates (4,110) 535
Total tax credit 2,227 463
c. Deferred tax asset

2020 2019

£000 £000
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 35,861 35,441
Pensions 4,308 3,793
Other temporary differences 1,220 1,019
Tolal deferred tax asset 41,389 40,253
A t gnised in the fi ial
At 1 January 40,252 38,337
Credit to income statement (3,921) (463)
Recognised in OCI 5,057 2,378
At 31 December 41,389 40,252

Deferred tax assets are only recognised where the company expects to be able to generate corresponding taxable income in the future to benefit from tax
reductions. Forecasts indicate that it is probable that taxable economic benefits will arise within the company and within other UK group companies in future
periods exceeding the current carrying amount of the deferred tax asset.

Tax effects in OCl represent tax on actuarial gains in respect of pensions and is recognised to the extent that the liability is expected to reverse in future periods.

d. Factors affecting current and future tax charges

At Spring Budget 2021, the government announced legislation setting the Corporation Tax main rate (for all profits except ring fence profits) at 25% for the year
stanting 1 April 2023 If the deferred tax all reverses at 25% the impact would be approximately £13.1m.

6 Finance income and expense

2020 2018

£000 £000
Interest income on short-term bank deposits 7 51
Dividends from subsidiary - 2,956
Net foreign exchange gains 73 45
Finance income 80 3,052
Interest and finance charges paid/payable for lease liabilities (965) (1,268)
Interest expense on intercompany funding (38) {53)
Net Interest cost on pension scheme liabilities (492) (260)
Interest expense on loan from parent company (1,208) (2,861)
Finance expense (2,703) (4,442)
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7 Exceptional Items

2020 2019

£000 £000
Pravision for Supplier contracts - (183)
Provision for Loss making contracts - {1,300)
Write down of Investment in Subsidiary - {2.750)
Divestment of business assets - - 7418
Exceptional ltams - 3,183

The exceptional items are as follows:
As at 31 December 2020 the pravision of £Nil (2019: £183k) represents the supplier onerous contract costs provided for in refation to cost reduction measures
undertaken by the Company.

As at 31 December 2020 the provision of £Nil (2019: £1,300k) represents the Customer onerous contract provision provided for in relation to cost reduction
measures undertaken by the Company.

|

During 2019, the write down of the Investment in Subsidiary related to the di g of Br ing Dal; vices Ltd, which is offset by the dividend income
related to the final distribution.

On 27 March 2019 the Company divested the business assets of Piero for £7,416 (US$8,000k cash and up to US$2,000k in Supplier credits).

8 Intangible assets

Goodwill Software Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
Cost or Valuation
As at 1 January 2019 11,939 7,525 19,464
Disposals - (1.396) {1.396)
As at 31 December 2018 11,938 6,129 18,068
As at 31 December 2020 11,939 6,129 18,068
Accumulated amortisation:
As at 1 January 2019 (11,939) (6,861) (18,800)
Amortisation - {140) (140)
Disposals - 878 879
At 31 December 2019 (11.939) (6,122) (18,061)
Amortisation - (44} (€4}
For the year ended 31 December 2020 (11,939) (6,129) (18,068)

Net book value:
At 31 December 2019 - 7 7
At 31 December 2020 - - -
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9 Property, plant and equipment
Assets under

Plant & Fixtures and construction
Note machinery fittings {"AUC") Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost:
As at 1 January 2019 118,299 4,522 4,567 127,388
Additions 6,310 - 11,712 18,022
Brought into service / Transfer from Intangible assets *1 3,685 - (3.168) 517
Di: (8.308) - - (8,308)
At 31 December 2019 119,986 4,622 13,411 137,619
Additions 5,765 64 9,897 15,726
Brought into service / Transfer from gible assets *1 7,570 - (7,570) -
At 31 December 2020 133,321 4,586 15,438 153,345
A lated depreciationfimpail t:
At 1 January 2019 (63,417} (2,255) - (65,672)
Provided during the year (14,131) (742) - (14,873)
Disposals 8,300 - - 8,300
At 31 December 2019 i (69,248) (2,997) - (72,245)
Provided during the year (12.251) {1.408) - (13.659)
At 31 December 2020 (81,499) (4,405) - {85,904)
Net book value:
Al 31 December 2019 50,738 1,525 13,111 65,374
At 31 December 2020 51,822 181 15,438 67,441
ot During the year an asset previously classified as an i ible has been i dinto a lone multi-customer platform which is now consider as tangible

asset.

C commi 1ts for the isition of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2020 amounted to £462k (2019: £713k).
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10 Investments

1

Total
£000
At 1 January 2019 2,755
Impairment {2,750)
At 31 December 2019 S
At 31 December 2020 5
Total
£000
Current Investments 5
Total 5
The Directors have considered the carrying value of the investments in subsidiaries and are their b are in excess of their canrying
value based upon tax losses & a final distribution received in early 2020.
Principal Country of % Holding % Holding
f sh.
activity incorporation  C12ss of s h::: 2020 2019
Subsidiary and operation
Red Bee Media USA Inc* (3069527) ' Oormant USA Ordinary 100 100
Red Bee Media Austrafia Holdings Pty Limited® (116905152) * Holding Company Australia Ordinary 100 100
Ericsson Media Distibution AB" (556866-0103) ° Toommonosy Sweden Ordinary 100 ht
The regi d of the subsidiaries are:
! Broadcast Centre , 201 Wood lane , London United Kingdom W12 7TP
2:Aurora Place’ Level 19, 88 Phillip Street, Sydney, Australia
? Torshamnsgatan 23 , 164 80 Stockholm
Ericsson Media Distribution AB was previous called Red Bee Media Sweden AB and changed its name an 29 August 2017.
Inventories
2020 2019
£000 £000
Work in progress 1,465 2,510
1,465 2,510

No information is held to enable cost of sales to be split into inventory purchases and direct labour costs.
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12 Trade and other receivables
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2020 2019
£000 £000
Trade receivables 9,565 12,935
Allowances for impairment - (3)
Net trade receivables 9,565 12,932
Amounts owed by group undertakings 2,328 203
Prepayments and accrued income 2,766 3,047
14,659 16,182

Disclosed as:
2020 2019
Trade and other receivables £000 £000
Current 14,659 16,182
14,659 16,182

All other inter-company balances are payable on group standard repayment terms (30 days net) with no extended credit.

Trade receivables are primarily denominated in pounds sterling, with £253k being denominated in US dollars {2019: £158k), £634k being denominated in Euros

(2019: £693k ).

The book value of trade and other receivables is consistent with fair value in the current and prior year.

Movement in allowances for impairment

Total
£000
Balance at 1 January 2019 124
Reversal of excess amounts (121)
Balance at 31 December 2019 3
Reversal of excess amounts 3)
Balance at 31 December 2020 [
Aging analysis as at 31 December 2020
Of which past due in the following time Of which past due and impaired in the
Of which neither Of which
Amount  impaired nor past  impaired, not less than 90 days 90 days or more less than 90 days 90 days or more
due past due
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Trade receivables 9,565 8,873 - 693 - ~ -
Allowances for R . ; R B . R
impairment
Net trade 9,565 8,673 . 693 . . .
receivables
Aging analysis as at 31 December 2019
Of which past due in the following time Of which past due and impaired in the
Of which neither Of which
Amount  impaired nor past  impaired, not less than 90 days 90 days or more less than 80 days 90 days or more
due past due
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Trade receivables 12,835 9,459 - 3,322 12 - 142
Allowances for
impaimment S B B - - N @
Net trade 12,932 9.459 . 3322 12 . 139
receivables
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12 Trade and other receivables (continued)

Credit risk in trade receivables
Credit risk is divided into three categories: credit risk in trade receivables, customer finance risk and financial credit risk.

Credit risk in trade receivables is g d by a policy i for all legal entities in the Ericsson Group. The purpose of the policy is to:

+ Avoid credit losses through establishing internal standard credit approval routines in all Ericsson legal entities;

« Ensure monitoring and risk mitigation of defaulting accounts, i.e. events of non-payment and/or delayed payments from customers;
- Ensure efficient credit management within the Company and thereby improve Days Sales Outstanding and cash flow;

- Ensure payment terms are commercially justifiable;

+ Define escalation path and approval process for payment terms and customer credit limits.

The credit warthiness of all customers is regularly assessed and a credit limitis set. Through credit 1t system funclionality, credit checks are performed
every time a sales order or an invoice is generated in the source system. This is based on the credit risk set on tha customer. Credit blacks appear if the credit
timit set on ci is ded or if past due ivables are higher than permitted levels. Release of a credit block requires authorisation.

Letters of credits are used as a method for securing payments from customers operating in emerging markets, in particular in markets with unstable political
and/or economic enviranment. By having banks confirming the letters of credit, the political and commercial credit risk exposures to Ericsson are managed.

Trade receivables amounted to £9,565k (2019: £12,932k). Provisions for expected losses are regularly assessed and amounied to £nil (2019: £3k). Ericsson’s
nominal credit losses have, however, historically been low. The amounts of trade receivables closely follow the distribution of Ericsson’s sales and do not include
any major concentrations of credit risk by customer or by geography.

The five largest customers represent 83% (2019: 84%) of the total trade receivables.

13 Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019
£000 £000
Cash in hand and at bank ‘s,saa 6,131

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year include amounts held in foreign currencies of £501k (2019:
£358K).

14 Trade and other payables

2020 2019

£000 £000

Trade creditors 10,153 10,700

Amounts owed to group undertakings 77,626 69,346

Taxation and social security (1,278) 1,956

Accruals and deferred income 4,673 5,079

Trade and other pazables 91,174 87,081
Disclosed as;

2020 2019

Trade and other payables £000 £000

Non-current - -

Current 91,174 87,081

91,174 87,081

Included within the amounts owed to group undertakings are loan balances amounting to £74,000k (2019: £55,000k) which are unsecured. In the current year,
On 9 April 2020 a loan was signed with Red Bee Media Holdings AB for £74,000k, with interest being charged at 6-Manth LIBOR plus agreed mark-up of 0.78%,
and payable on the last day of the loan. On 9 April 2020 the Company repaid the pior year loan balance of £55,000k from the ultimate parent undertaking. All
other inter-company balances are payable on group standard repayment terms (30 days net) with no extended credit.

See Note 23 for Post Balance Sheet Events on the restructuring of this loan on the 19 March 2021.
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15 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Long Term Customer Supplier Restructuring Property Total
Variable Pay

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2019 - - - 987 622 1,609
Additions 1,277 1,300 183 235 - 2,995
Release - - - {323) - {323)
Other adjustments - - - - (622) (622)
Utilisation - - - (664) - (664)
At 31 December 2019 1,277 1,300 183 235 - 2,895
Additions 173 - - 551 1,623 2,347
Release (12) - - 7 - ) (29)
Utilisation (1,151) (1.068) (183) (477) : (2,879)
At 31 D« ber 2020 287 232 - 292 1,623 2,434

Disclosed as:
2020 2019
Provisions for other liabilities and charges £000 £000
Non-Current 81 96
Current 2,353 2,899
2,434 2,995

Property provision
IFRS 16 has been applied during 2019. IFRS16 applies a reduction in the Right of use on the asset for any onerous part of the contract. At the point of
impl wtation of the the prior provision was release and an impairment to the right of use was made.

Restructuring provision
As at 31 December 2020 the provision of £292k (2019: £235k) represents the r iring provision for and other ination costs provided for in
relation to cost reduction measures undertaken by the Company.

Supplier Related
As at 31 December 2020 the provision of £Nil (2019: £183) rep! its the supplier onerous costs provided for in relation to cost reduction measures
undertaken by the Company.

Customer Related

As at 31 December 2020 the provision of £232k (2019: £1,300k) represents the Customer onerous contract provision provided for in relation to cost reduction
measures undertaken by the Company.

Long Term Variable pay

As at 31 December 2020 the provision of £287k (2019: £1,277k) represents the estimated cost of Long Term Variable pay compensation.

There are two plans.

The Plans are cash-settled retention plans. Employees are selected as participants annually through a nomination process. Participants are assigned a potential
award based on a percentage of their annual gross salary, which is converted into a number of synthetic shares based on the same market price of Ericsson B
shares used for the respective year's LTV.

One plan is a retention plan, therefore there are no perfarmance criteria far vesting of awards. In general, there Is a three-year service period for receiving the
award in full and the award is subject only to continued employment during the service period.

On the second plan the vesting level of the award is subject to the achievement of the same performance criteria over the same performance period defined for
the raspective year and generally requires that the participant retains his or her employment over the vesting period.

At the end of the vesting period, the allotted synthetic shares are converted into a cash amount, based on the market price of Ericsson B shares at Nasdaq
Stockholm at the payout date, and this final amount is paid to the participant in cash gross before tax.

16 Share capital

Autharised, Allotted, called up and fully paid

2020 2019
£000 £000

12,000,000 (2019: 12,000,000) ordinary shares of £1 each 12,000 12,000
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17 Reconciliation of total equity and movements on reserves

Share (Accumulated losses) / Total

capital Retained earnings equity

Note £000 £000 £000

At 1 January 2019 16 12,000 16,649 28,648
Profit for the year N - (3.907) (3,907)
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension plan - (12,051) (12,051)
Tax on item that will not be r ified to profit or loss 5¢c - 2,378 2,378
Al 31 December 2019 16 12,000 3,069 15,069
Loss for the year - (10,417) (10,417)
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension plan 20 - (1,895) (1,895)
Tax on item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss S5¢ - 5,057 5,057
At 31 D ber 2020 16 12,000 {4,186) 7,814

18 Leases liabilities

Leasing with the Company as lessee
In January 2019 Ericsson applied the new lease standard IFRS 16, which replaced IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations IFRIC 4, SIC-15 and SIC-27.

The definition of a lease is amended which impacts the accounting both from a lessee and lessor perspective. The new standard will put leased assets on the
balance sheet.

8uildings

2020 2019
£000 £000
Al 1 January 23,016 27,004
Additions 4,519 -
Depreciation charge of right of use assets (4,059) (3.549)
Impairment charge of right of use assets - (439)
Revaluations (622) -
At 31 December 22,854 23.016

Lease liabilities
2020 2019
Lease liabilities £000 £000
Non-current 19,858 20,553
Current 4,452 3,412
24,310 23,965
2020 2019
£'000 £000
Interest expense (included in finance costs) 965 1,268
Principal elements of lease payments 4130 2,784
Total cash outflow for leases in 2020 5,095 4,052

19 Financial risk management and financial instruments

The Company's capital and financial risk management policies are governed at the Ericsson Group level.
Capital Management

Ericsson Group defines its managed capital as the total of a company's equity, therefore uses Equity/Total Assets ratio as a measure of determining the
appropriate capital structure of its group companies.

The capital structure is managed by balancing equity, inter-company loans and liquidity in such a way that the Company secures funding of its operations in a cost
effective way for the Ericsson Group.

The Company achieves its funding needs solely through Ericsson Group Treasury and does not negotiate any external borrowing independently. This provides
financial flexibility and independence to operate and manage variations in working capital needs as well as to capitalise on business opportunities.

The Company strives to finance growth, normal capital expenditures and dividends to the Ericsson Group by generating sufficient positive cash flows from
aperating activities.

Capital objectives information:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Equity 7.814 15,069
Total assets 156,149 155,358
Equity ratio 5% 10%

Cash flow from operating activities 22,395 14,162
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19 Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued;

Financial Management

The Company's financial risk management policy is primarily driven by Ericsson Group Treasury. The principal aim is to ensure that appropriate financing is in
place to manage the Company's liquidity as well as financial assets and liabilities, and to control financial risk exposures in a manner consistent with underlying
business risks and financial poficies. The Company does nat undertake any local hedging activities.

Foreign exchange risk

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk in the normal course of business for transactions not denominated in Pound Sterling. For inter-company
transactions, Ericsson Group Treasury seeks to minimize such risk by dictating the y of trade 1 the Company and its group undertakings.

Although the Company does not undertake any local hedging activities, the Eril Group policy is to hedge the transaction exposure in its subsidiaries’ balance
sheet (i.e. trade receivables and payables) through offsetting derivatives, Therefore the Company is obliged to enter into such offsetting derivative transactions
with counterparty Ericsson Group Treasury at the end of each month. The value of such outstanding derivatives, all maturing within 30 days, at year end was £nil
(2019: £nil),

Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through market value fluctualions in cerlain balance sheet items and through changes in interest revenues and
expenses. The net overdraft at year end was £nil (2019: net overdraft of £nil). There was a £74,000k interest bearing loan at year end (2019: £55,000).

Cash or overdraft balances are managed through a cash pooling arrangement, subject to floating rates applicable to the cash pooling arrangement with Ericsson

Group Treasury. Na assets or liabilities are subject to fixed interest rate exposure, except the £74,000 loan from the parent.

The Company policy is to avoid a significant fixed rate exposure in lts assets and liabilities.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is that the Company Is unable to meet its short-term pay igations due to insufficient funds or illiquid cash reserve. The Company minimizes
the tiquidity risk by maintaining a sufficient net cash position and having Ericsson Group Treasury funding available In place to meet potential funding needs.

All financial instruments of the company carried at fair value through profit or loss fall under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
During 2020, the net cash balance increased to £6,538k compared to £6,131k in the prior year.

The entire cash balance is held with reputable financlal institutions.

Carrying amounts of financial instruments

Cash and Trade and Trade and
cash Iinternal internal Lease liabilities Totad Total
" (note 13) (note 12) {note 14) (nota 18) 2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Loans and receivables 6,538 11,893 - - 18,431 19,266
Financial liabilities at

amortised cost - - (87.779) (23,965) (111,744) (104,011}
Total 6,538 11,893 (87,779) (23,965) (93,313) (84.745)

The following table shows lysis of fi lal liabilitlies, i ding lease liabilities by contractual maturity,
Lease liabilities Trade and internal Total
payables 2020
£000 £000 £000
Less than 1 year 4,452 87,779 92,231
1-3years 7,532 - 7,532
3-5years 6,835 - 6,835
More than § years 5,492 - 5,492
Total 24,311 87,779 112,090
Lease liabilittes  Trade and internal Total
payables 2019
£000 £000 £000
Less than 1 year 3,746 80,046 83,792
1-3years 5913 - 5,913
3-5years 8,628 - 8,628
More than 5 years 5,678 - 5,679
Total 23,865 80,046 104,011
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20 Pension commitments

For some employees, the Company operates a funded pension scheme, the Red Bee Media Pension Plan. On the 31 May 2016 , the scheme was closed to
future accruals. The assets for the scheme are held separately from those of the Company in independently administered funds. The trustee board of the scheme
are composed of representatives from both employers and plan members. The trustee board of the scheme are required by law to act in the interest of the
scheme and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme, i.e. active employ inactive employees, retirees, employ The trustee board of the scheme are
responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the scheme.

The pension liability comprises:

2020 2019

£000 £000

Defined benefit scheme ' 22,676 22,310
22,676 22,310

Unpaid contributions, at the year end, to the funded pension plan amounted to £nil (2019: £nil).
Administration costs incurred ta administer the pension plan have been expensed through the income statement. Administration costs incurred for directly
managing the plan assets are included in the retum in plan assets.

The scheme typically exposes the Company to actuarial risks such as: investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and inflation.

Investment risk - The present value of the scheme's liability is calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields; if the
return on the scheme asset is below this rate, it will create a scheme deficit. Due to the long-term nature of the scheme liabilities, the board of the pension fund
considers it appropriate that a reasonable portion of the scheme assets should be invested in equity securilies and real estate to leverage the return generated by
the scheme.

Interest risk - A decrease in bond interest rate will increase the liabilities; however, for the defined benefit scheme, this will be partially offset by an increase in the

return on the plan’s debtinvestments.

Langevily risk - The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during
and after their employ Ani in the life 1cy of the ptan participants will increase the scheme's liability.

Inflation risk - The present value of the defined benefit liability is linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities. Whilst the scheme hedges a
reasonable proportion of this inflation risk, an increase in inflation will alsa reduce the surplus to an extent.

Defined benefit scheme
The latest actuarial valuation of the plan was carried out as at 30 June 2018. The valuation has been updated to 31 December 2020 by an independent qualified
actuary in accordance with IAS 19, Investments have been valued, for this purpose, at bid value.

During the year the Company paid cash contributions of £2,223k (2019: £1,688k) in @ with the Schedule of Contributi agreed with the plan's trustee
board. The cantributions will continue as per the agreed Schedule of Contributions for the forthcaming financial year.

Defined benefit scheme (continued)

The major assumptions used for the actuarial valuation were:

2020 2019
% %
Pension increases in payment and deferment;
- RPI capped @ 10% pa 295 3.00
- RPI capped @ 5% pa 2.80 2.85
- RPI capped @ 2.5% pa 1.95 2.00
Discount rate 1.75 210
Inflation assumptions 2.90 295
The 31 December 2020 and 31 D ber 2019 ion di rates were based on the yield on high quality corporate bonds rated as AA by at least 1 of 2

principal credit rating agencies with outstanding debt of at least £50m.

The mortality assumptions used as at 31 December 2020 are 93% of the S2NA base mortality table, allowing for future improvements in line with the “CMI 2019
projections from 2007 based on each member's actual date of birth, with a long-term improvement of 1.5% pa for both males and females, a smoothing
parameter of 7.5 and an initial ("a") parameter of 0 (updated from 100% of the S2NA base mortality table , allowing for the future mortality improvements in line

with the "CMI 2018" projections used as at 31 D 2019). ge life exp y for mortality tables used to determine the defined benefit obligation at 31
December were:
2020 2019
Male Female Male Female
Aged 60 now; average life expectancy 27.7 29.6 27.5 29.6

Aged 40 now; average life expectancy on retirement at age 60 29.8 31.5 29.3 31.5
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20 Pension commitments (continued)

Defined benefit scheme (continued)

The market value of the assets in the scheme, the present value of the liabilities in the sch and the d rate of retum at the balance sheet date were:
2020 2019

% £000 % £000
Quoted
Domestic Equities 20% 34,330 19% 29,077
Diversified Growth Funds 7% 11,896 10% 14,913
Government bonds 3% 53,326 30% 45,361
LODI asset holding 3% 58,219 21% 31,030
Cash and Cash Equivalents 4% 7,407 14% 21,515

165,178 141,896
Unquoted
Property 5% 8,732 6% 8,904
8,904

Total market value of assets 100% 173,910 100% 150,800
Present value of scheme liabilities (196,586) (173,110)
Net pension liability {22,676) {22,310)

The Plan assets are held exclusively within instruments with quoted market prices in an active market with the exception of the holdings in property and a small
The Plan does not invest directly in property occupied by the Company or in financial securities issued by the Company.

Changes in the present value of benefit obligation:

2020 2019

£000 £000
Opening benefit obligation 173,110 145,629
Interest cost 3,618 4,260
Benefits paid {1,565) {2,309)
Actuarial losses/{gains) 21,423 25,530
Closing benefit obligation 196,586 173,110
Changes in the value of scheme assets:

2020 2019

£000 £000
Opening value of scheme assets 150,800 134,142
Interest income 3,126 4,000
Running costs (223) (200)
Employer contributions 2,223 1,688
Benefits paid . (1,565) (2,309)
Actuarial gains/{losses) 19,549 13,479
Value of scheme assets at end of year 173,910 150,800
Deficit recognised {22,676) (22,310)

2020 2019

£000 £000

Actual return on plan assets 22,675 17,479
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20 Pension commitments (continued)

Defined benefit scheme (continued)

Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit:

2020 2019

£000 £000
Running costs paid by the plan 223 200
Net charge to operating loss 223 200
Analysis of the amount charged to net finance charges:

2020 2019

£000 £000
Interest income on pension scheme assets 3,126 4,000
Interest expense on pension scheme liabilities (3,618) (4,260)
Net interest expense (492) (260)
Analysis of the actuarial gains / (losses) recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:

2020 2019

£000 £000
Actual return less interest income on pension scheme assets 19,549 13,479
Experience gains arising an the scheme liabilities 2,289 -
Changes in demographic assumptions underlying the present value of scheme liabilities 431 {1,402)
Changes in financial assumptions underlying the present value of scheme liabiliti (24,143) (24,128)

(1,874) (12,051)

Movement in scheme deficit during the year:

2020 2019

£000 £000
Pension scheme deficit at start of year {22,310) (11,487)
Running costs (223) (200)
Contributions 2,223 1,688
Net finance charges (492) (260)
Actuarial (loss) / gain (1,874) (12,051)
Pension scheme deficit at end of year (22,676) {22,310)
Signi rial d for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate, price inflation (RP1) and mortality. The sensitivity
analyses below have been determined based on bly ible changes of the respective assumpti occurring at the end of the reporting year, while

holding all other assumptions constant.
+ If the discount rate Is 0.5% higher (lower), the defined benefit abligation would decrease by £21,000k (increase by £25,000k).
« If the price inflation (RP!) increases (decreases) by 0.5% pa , the defined benefit abligation would increase by £18,000k (decreases by £17,000k).

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit abligation has been calculated using the projected unit credit
method at the end of the reporting year, which Is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation liability recognised in the balance sheet.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

The plan trustees and the Company regularly review the plan's investment strategy to ensure that it remains appropriate for risk and
return profiles.

The Company's funding requi depends on the level of any deficit in the plan and are based on the local actuarial measurement framework.

The Company expects to make a contribution of £2,223k to the funded pension plan during the next financial year

Defined contribution scheme

Red Bee Media Limited operates a personal pension scheme which is a defined contribution scheme. The amounts charged to the income statement in respect
of this scheme represent the employer’s contributions payable by the Group amounted to £2,467k (2019 : £3,150k). Red Bee Media Limited has no legal or
constructive obligation to fund any deficit of this scheme.

Unpaid contributions, at the year end, to the personal pension scheme amounted to £nil (2019: £nil).
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Related parties

Parent and ultimate controlling party
The Company's immediate parent undertaking is Red Bee Media Holding AB, a Company incorporated in Sweden (which is domiciled in Sweden at
Torshamnsgatan 21, SE-164 83 Stockholm). In the prior year, the Company's immediate parent was Creative Broadcast Services Limited.

On 29 March 2019, Creative Broadcast Services Limited signed a share purchase agreement to divest the company to Red Bee Media Holding AB. The ultimate
parent remains unchanged.

The uttimate parent undertaking and controliing party is Telefonakliebol LM Eri a Company incorporated in Sweden (which is domiciled in Sweden at

Torshamnsgatan 21, SE-164 83 Stockholm), is the parent undertaking of the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements. Copies of the

financial of Telefonaktiebol. LM Ercsson may be obtained from www.ericsson.com.

Tr i with key mar personnel

Key management personnel are the directors of the Company. Their P ion comprised the following:
2020 2019
£000 £000

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 1,737 1,341

Company contribution paid to money purchases pension schemes 64 53

Share based payments 30 3
1,831 1,397
2020 2019
£000 £000

Highest paid director

Emol s and receivable under incentive schemes 1,082 865
1,082 865

The emoluments of certain directors were paid during the year by another Ericsson Group company which made no recharges to the Company and no allocation
of costs is i A dingly, the r ion shown above does not include these emoluments.

Only the directors are considered to be key management personnel as only the directors are responsible for key decisions in the company.

Transactions with the pension schemes

The pension plans are a related party. The plans do not hold shares in the ultimate parent undertaking. The Company's only transaction with the plans relate to
ibutions and inistrative exp paid (see note 20).

Other related party transactions

Related party transactions during the year are as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Parent, Intermediary Parents and Ultimate Parent,
- Interest an Group loan facility 1,246 2,902
Fellow Subsidiaries
- Sales and recharges 808 1,550
- Purchases and recharges 10,913 13,275
- Dividend received - 2,956
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Related parties {(conti d)
Related party balances as at the year are as follows:
2020 2019
£000 £000
Parent, Intermediary Parents and Ultimate Parent
- Trade and other payables*' {76,464) (66,049)

Fellow subsidiaries
- Receivables 2,328 203

-Trade and other payables™' (1,162) . (3.297)

*1 The split between parent and fellow subsidiaries in the prior year has been updated to report the kan from parent correctly.

A number of these companies transacted with the Company during the year. The terms and conditions of these transactions were no more favourable than those
available, or which might re y be to be in similar transactions with non-key management personnel-related companies on an arm's

length basis.

22 Commitments

Bank guarantees of £300k (2019: £300k) have been made to HMRC in the ordinary course of business.

23 Post Balance Sheet Events

On 19 March 2021, a loan agreement from the immediate parent undertaking, Red Bee Media Holding, was signed by the company. This loan amounted to
£75,000k and was used to clear the outstanding loan. The loan is repayable in full (including any accrued interests) in 180 days from the date of disbursement,
with interest being charged at 0.88% per annum, and payable on the last day of the loan 15 September 2021.

On 27 April 2021, an additional loan agreement from the immedlate parent undertaking, Red Bee Media Holding, was signed by the company. This loan
amounted to £5,000k. The loan is repayable in full (including any accrued interests) in 139 days from the date of disbursement (29 April 2021), with interest being
charged at 0.8798% per annum, and payable on the last day of the loan 15 September 2021.
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